

## Cohesion Policy and its contribution to addressing different development needs of regions

Simona Iammarino

Final report April 2023

Contract No. 2022CE16BAT105



#### Group of high-level specialists on the future of Cohesion Policy

The European Commission, the Directorate-General Regional and Urban Policy (lead) and the Directorate-General Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion (associated) have set up a Reflection Group on the future of Cohesion Policy. The group includes high-level members from academia and practice and in 2023 will meet nine times to reflect on current and future needs and the functioning of Cohesion Policy.

The group will offer conclusions and recommendations that will feed the reflection process on Cohesion Policy post-2027 including through the 9<sup>th</sup> Cohesion Report in 2024 and the mid-term review of Cohesion Policy programmes in 2025.

#### About the author

Simona Iammarino is Professor of Applied Economics at the Department of Economics and Business of the University of Cagliari, Visiting Professor at the Department of Geography & Environment of the London School of Economics (LSE), member of the Board of the LSE-Cañada Blanch Centre, affiliate faculty member at the Gran Sasso Science Institute (GSSI) L'Aquila. Simona's main research interests lie in the following areas: Multinational corporations, globalisation and local economic development, Economic geography of innovation and technological change, Regional systems of innovation, Regional and local economic development and policy.

#### Disclaimer

This paper is an independent input to the reflection paper. The opinions expressed in this paper are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of Reflection Group or the European Commission.

#### Key words

Regional development trap, trapped regions, development trap indicator

#### Contact

EUROPEAN COMMISSION Directorate-General Regional and Urban Policy Unit B.1 — Policy Development and Economic Analysis

E-mail: <u>REGIO-FUTURE-COHESION-POLICY@ec.europa.eu</u> European Commission B-1049 Brussels

## Table of contents

1	Introduction and aim5		
2	Regional heterogeneity in Europe and the concept of regional development trap (RDT)		
3	Mea	suring and identifying regional development traps in the EU27	7
	3.1	The Development Trap (DT1) indicator	7
	3.2	Main characteristics of trapped regions (or at risk of become so)	8
4	Regional development traps: Opportunities and challenges for development		
	polic	cy1	0
	4.1	RDT as a diagnostic kit1	0
	4.2	The missing dimensions relevant for policy analysis: a focus on regional global connectivity	.2
5	Conclusions and main policy implications14		4
6	References16		
7	Appendix19		

## Table of Maps

Map 3.1	Likelihood of being in a development trap: DT1 at NUTS2 level,	
	2001-2018	8
Map 4.1	Inward and Outward FDI: cumulative value (mil. Euros) of FDI to	
	and from EU27 regions, 2003-2017	13
Map 7.1	Likelihood of being in a development trap: DT1 at NUTS3 level,	
	2001-2018	19
Map 7.2	Regions in (or at risk of) a talent development trap: NUTS2 level,	
	2015-2020	20

## Acronyms

CEEC	Central and Eastern European Countries
DT	Development trap
EQI	European Quality of Government index
EU	European Union
FDI	Foreign direct investment
GDP	Gross domestic product
GERD	Gross domestic expenditure on R&D
GVA	Gross value added
GVC	Global value chains
HQ	Headquarters
ICT	Information and Communications Technology
IFDI	Inward foreign direct investment
KIBS	Knowledge-intensive business services
MNE	Multinational enterprise
NUTS	Nomenclature of territorial units for statistics
OFDI	Outward foreign direct investment
OLS	Ordinary least squares
R&D	Research and development
RDT	Regional development trap
S&T	Science and technology
S3	Smart Specialization strategy
SME	Small and medium-sized enterprises
STEM	Science, technology, engineering and mathematics

### 1 Introduction and aim

The "regional development trap" (RDT) concept in the European Union (EU) context refers to regions that face significant structural challenges in regaining previous economic dynamism or in improving wealth and prosperity for their residents (Diemer, Iammarino, Rodriguez- Pose, and Storper 2020, 2022). Indicators of development trap risks for the EU regions have been proposed on the basis of different variables representing the extent of economic dynamism of each region relative to itself in the past, and to both national and European averages (Diemer et al. 2020, 2022).

The RDT analytical framework allows to take a comparative perspective of "different speeds" across EU regions and places: this is crucially important as trapped regions in Europe may beso at different levels of income and economic development. Regions in development traps, or at significant risk of becoming trapped, may face economic, social and political hazards forthemselves, their nation State, and Europe as a whole. Thus, they represent a tricky challengefor policy makers at all levels of governance. The RDT dynamic framework provides an operative way to distinguish European territories' relative positions and paths with respect to development trap risks, and to integrate in the EU Cohesion Policy reflections on the growing number of areas wedged between "rich" (core) and "poor" (peripheral) regions. Nonetheless, to guarantee its effectiveness as a dynamic indicator of regional trajectories, the RDT measureneeds to be sensibly applied and interpreted, taking into account its relationship with major socio-economic and institutional factors underlying regional development in the EU.

The aim of this paper is to provide preliminary answers to the following questions: Based on recent data, what can regions do to overcome or to avoid falling into a development trap? What can cohesion policy do further to support regions trapped or at risk of falling into a development trap? What additional policy mechanisms could be designed as to specifically target helping regions overcome the development trap? By considering some descriptive evidence within the RDT framework, other associated indicators, and regional examples, thepaper provides crucial insights on the use of such concept and measurement in EU policy debates, and sketches some of the revealed opportunities and challenges for the Cohesion Policy of the future.

### 2 Regional heterogeneity in Europe and the concept of regional development trap (RDT)

Academic and policy literatures have long documented the heterogeneity of European subnational regions with respect to many socio-economic indicators, in terms of both static levels and changes over time (e.g., European Commission 2022; Iammarino, Rodríguez-Pose, and Storper 2019). One reason behind such differences is that, since the early 1990s, many regions – at varying levels of development – have faced long-term economic stagnation, giving rise to a "Europe at different speeds" (Fagerberg and Verspagen 1996; Dunford and Smith 2009; Sassi 2011). Along similar lines, research has highlighted the slow and discontinuous nature of European inter-regional convergence processes (e.g. Martin and Sunley 1998), aligning to findings in studies on convergence clusters (Quah's 1996, 1997). More recently, Storper (2018) discusses growing interregional divergence of economic opportunities and political polarization across Europe, arguing that both agglomeration forces and institutional settings could have cumulative feedbacks. Groups, or 'clubs', of regions have been distinguished on the grounds of their overall wealth: very high-, high-, middle- and low- income (Iammarino et al. 2019). Regions at the top and bottom of the income scale have been, in general, far more dynamic than most regions positioned between these two

extremes; many of those European middle-income regions have experienced lengthy periods of low growth, weak or absent productivity increases, low employment creation or even loss.

In the academic literature development traps are part of the family of concepts that consider the possibilities for lower income economies to "catch-up" to the leaders by virtue of the gradual narrowing of their income and productivity gaps, according to a variety of countryspecific trajectories (e.g., Abramovitz 1986; Fagerberg 1994; Fagerberg and Godinho 2006). "Catch-up cycles" and shifts in industrial leadership occur over time and are determined by the inability of the incumbent economies to adjust to shocks and mega-trends, i.e. globalisation processes, technological transitions, social, environmental and institutional transformations worldwide (e.g. Vivarelli 2016; Aghion and Bircan 2017; Lee and Malerba 2017). The concept of "middle-income trap" had, until Diemer et al. (2020, 2022), been applied exclusively at the national level and mostly with reference to emerging countries.

As known from economic geography and innovation literatures, industrial and innovative activities tend to cluster spatially at the sub-national level (e.g., Audretsch and Feldman 1996; Ellison and Glaeser 1997): thus, catch-up cycles can indeed help explain also economic dynamics across regions within advanced economies. The definition of "regional development trap" (RDT) borrows from the theory of middle-income trapped countries, but revise in depth the concept to adapt it to the European circumstances with respect to the following aspects:

- European economies are *largely industrialised* and advanced relative to the world average in terms of most socio-economic indicators.
  - European regions tend to become trapped at considerably higher GDP per capita levels than those of countries experiencing middle-income traps.
  - The lack of economic dynamism and stagnation paths in many advanced European regions – i.e. the presence or risk of a development trap – manifest themselves in dimensions other than income: for example, lack of productivity and/or employment growth, and/or decline in innovation capacity, and/or insufficient institutional responsiveness to change.
- European economies show considerable *heterogeneity and idiosyncrasy of development trajectories* at the subnational level. Regional stagnation in Europe does not occur exclusively after a successful transition from low- to middle-income status, but follows various paths:
  - *From above:* formerly wealthy industrial regions whose economic fragility stems from decline or obsolescence of previously successful manufacturing activities.
  - *From below:* formerly lagging regions that, after having experienced rapid growth in the past, get stuck at levels of development below the European average.
  - *In stagnation:* middle-income level regions that have remained so over time and do not grow enough to improve their performance compared to the European average.
- European national and regional economies are *uniquely integrated in a specific multilevel and multidimensional institutional setting*.
  - In the EU, trapped regions have been caught between national-level policies often concentrating support towards the wealthiest and most dynamic industries and cities within their countries – and the EU-level Cohesion Policy, aimed at strengthening economic, social, and territorial cohesion in the Union as a whole by investing in the poorest and least developed regions.
  - Trapped regions have generally not received consistent policy attention because they have not been identified and analysed as such. Many of those areas, with visible longterm economic decay and lack of opportunities, are increasingly regarded as sources of the "geography of discontent" (e.g. Rodríguez-Pose, 2018; Dijkstra, Poelman, and Rodríguez-Pose 2020; McCann 2020).

A "regional development trap" for Europe is thus defined as the *state of a region unable to retain its economic dynamism in terms of income, productivity, and employment, while also underperforming its national and European peers on these same dimensions* (Diemer et al. 2020, 2022). In other words, a region can be identified as being trapped if the prosperity of its residents does not improve relative to its past performance and the prevailing economic conditions in national and European economies. As explained, this concept is applied to regions that fall into this state from different levels of economic wealth relative to the European distribution. The dynamic conceptualisation also extends to the difference between regions that appear to *be in a development trap*, and those at significant near-term *risk of falling into such a trap*.

### 3 Measuring and identifying regional development traps in the EU27

#### 3.1 The Development Trap (DT1) indicator

The RDT conceptualisation has been derived from different scholarly literatures and developed into measurement with the aim of providing a diagnostic tool to appraise the extent to which a region may be considered trapped or at risk of becoming so. RDT indicators are constructed along a multi-dimensional continuum, consisting of three variables representing main economic dimensions:

- Income: GDP per capita at constant prices.
- Productivity: total gross value added (GVA) per worker at constant prices.
- Employment: employment to population ratio.

Income per capita is included in the indicator as a succinct measure of regional wealth, as is standard in the literature. However, the latter also suggests that a development trap may manifest through channels other than income: thus, employment and productivity variables help to capture the phenomenon in a more nuanced way. Measurement reflects how an EU region performs across the above economic dimensions, relative to the following three benchmarks:

- The region with respect to itself in the past.
- The country the region belongs to.
- The EU average.

The final measure combines the finding into one summary indicator<sup>1</sup> of average risk of being in development traps, which could stem from regional, national, or Europe-wide effects that may interact and mutually reinforce each other.

As an example, Map 3.1 shows the geographical distribution (at the NUTS2 level) of the average risk/likelihood of being in a development trap over the period 2001-2018. The DT1 index measures whether a region's growth – as captured by GDP per capita, productivity and employment – is lower than that of itself, its country, and Europe, during the previous 5 years. DT1 is bounded between 0 and 1, with greater values denoting a greater risk of being trapped in a given year *t* (a region scores 1 for each time the growth is lower; this score

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the sake of robustness, two similar alternative measures of RDT were constructed (see for details Diemer et al. 2020, 2022): DT1 and DT2. As the former is simpler to construct and interpret, and given the strong correlation between the two indicators, in this paper only DT1 is reported. All data mentioned is from Eurostat and Cambridge Econometrics Regional Database.

between 0 and 9 is then rescaled to 0-1 (Diemer et al., 2020; Dijkstra and Rodriguez-Pose 2023).



Map 3.1 Likelihood of being in a development trap: DT1 at NUTS2 level, 2001-2018

Considering the 2001-18 average, the likelihood of being in a development trap is greatest (DT1>0.7) in many French regions – Bourgogne, Franche-Comté, Normandie, Picardie, Alsace, Champagne-Ardenne, Lorraine, Limousin, Languedoc-Roussillon and Rhône-Alpes –, in central Italy – Lazio, Umbria and Molise –, in the Área Metropolitana de Lisboa, in the Greek island of Crete and in the Spanish Canarias; in the northern EU, the Belgian Provinces of Liège and Luxembourg, the Drenthe region in the Netherland and the area of Darmstadt in southwest Germany are the only regions identified as trapped in the observed period. To be noted that France and Italy also display the largest number of regions in the group at high risk of being in a development trap has been lowest (DT1<0.4) particularly for regions in Central and Eastern Europe as well as in Germany.

# **3.2 Main characteristics of trapped regions** (or at risk of become so)

For the purpose of policy-oriented analysis, it is paramount to discuss, albeit briefly, the factors that economic theory suggests as associated to the likelihood of a region being/becoming trapped. Diemer et al. (2020; 2022) use pooled OLS and fixed effects regressions to show the correlation of the DT indicators with broad sets of socio-economic-institutional variables, comparing them between regions at risk and those that are not, also

across income categories: consistently with the dynamic conceptualisation, regional characteristics are always considered both in levels and changes.

A few qualitative associations need be emphasised. First, as conceptualised, a development trap trajectory in the EU is not a condition that affects only middle-income places, as regions with higher income per capita tend to exhibit higher levels of risk. Second, in terms of economic structure, the DT1 indicator is consistently and negatively connected with manufacturing, and positively with non-market services. More generally, trapped, or at risk of being trapped, regions display lower shares and low/null growth rates of manufacturing operations (measured in terms of both value added and employment): manufacturing bases are indeed especially high in non-trapped low-income and high-income EU regions, whilst middle-income areas show the lowest. By contrast, trapped or nearly trapped places show higher shares and growth rates of non-market services (mostly public services in the areas of social welfare, health, education and defence), which particularly middle-income regions rely upon. Third, demographical structure is also relevant, as the trap risk is associated with high dependency ratios. Forth, regarding innovation and skills, a strong negative correlation emerges between the share of government sector R&D (GERD) on GDP and the DT indicator, although GERD appears to complement more broadly regional wealth in high-income regions; in contrast, the share of employment in science and technology correlates negatively with development traps only in low-income regions. Lastly, the DT index shows a strong negative relationship with institutional quality, as captured by the European Regional Quality of Government (EQI) index, in high-income and, especially, middle-income regions.

In depth case-studies carried out in Diemer et al. (2020) have added further nuances to the nature of RDT in the EU.<sup>2</sup> Focussing here only on the two middle-income regions' cases– Abruzzo (Italy) and Champagne-Ardenne (France) – and considering that the period of reference for the case-studies was longer (1990 to 2015), both these two regions in the more recent years 2001-2018 in **Error! Reference source not found.** confirm the signs of being trapped (Champagne-Ardenne in the top group of the DT1 indicator above 0.7) or at high risk of becoming trapped (Abruzzo, in the second quintile, DT1>0.6). This is consistent across the four provinces which constitute both regions, although the regional capital of Abruzzo, L'Aquila (NUTS3), displays more dynamism, probably due to the funds for the reconstruction following the devastating earthquake in 2009.

The example of these two regions illustrates the heterogeneity of RDT trajectories in the EU: whilst Abruzzo can be identified as a formerly lagging behind region, achieving middle-income levels 'from below', then slipping back to lower levels, Champagne-Ardenne fits the description of a formerly well-off region that has approached the development trap 'from above' due to persistent stagnation. The two regions show remarkable similarities in their dynamics, in line with the general features highlighted by the quantitative analysis summarised above:

- Slow transition from agriculture and manufacturing the latter strong in both regions to high-skilled and high value-added activities, poor development of advanced tertiary activities, especially knowledge-intensive business services (KIBS).
- Demographic trends characterised by ageing population and increasing depopulation.
- Weak, and not improving, innovative capacity and, more generally, lack of a functioning innovation system, with inadequate linkages and networks among the main categories of actors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For details and methodology of the four case-studies see Diemer et al. (2020).

- Low tertiary educational attainment (though in the case of Abruzzo more representative of national problems in the education and vocational training system), scarce demand for highly qualified workers from local SMEs, and evidence of persistent local skill mismatch.
- Inadequacy of the regional governance system.

On the other hand, the two regions also show stark differences in their respective trajectories, particularly with respect to the following two broad aspects:

- Economic structure: Abruzzo witnessed a strengthening of its manufacturing activities since the 1970s up to 2018, both in terms of value added and employment. The manufacturing base is rather diversified, with strengths in medium- and high- tech sectors such as automotive, ICT, pharmaceuticals, and in traditional sectors such as textiles and apparel and agri-food. Abruzzo also featured a long-term interdependence between international integration through foreign direct investment (FDI) and multinational enterprises (MNEs) since its first phase of industrialisation: even if the region showed a remarkable retention of foreign firms located there in the phase of expansion pre-2000s, its attractive capacity has weakened over time even with respect to the rest of the Italian Mezzogiorno. Champagne-Ardenne is considered an old industrial region, with a specialised productive fabric much more oriented towards industry and agriculture than elsewhere in France. The strong specialisation occurs in a few, historically strong, manufacturing sectors, such as metallurgy and textiles and leather, which have experienced sustained decline in the shares of employment over time - some linked to the relocation out of the region by large foreign MNEs, such as the notorious case of Electrolux since the 2000s - mainly compensated by the expansion of non-market services. The agri-food sector - largely dominated by nationally-owned MNEs and by far the most attractive to foreign investors - plays a crucial role in the local economy: winemaking is a fundamental source of regional wealth, owing to a large international demand.
- Institutional quality: *Abruzzo* shares with the rest of Italy a range of complex institutional problems, which limit its economic development potential as well as the quality of societal life: the poor institutional quality as proxied by the EQI remains well below national and EU averages and has been declining since records started. In *Champagne-Ardenne*, instead, the EQI lagged behind both France and Europe until the mid-2000s, but since 2010 the region has been aligning with the national figures and consistently above the EU. Interestingly, the Champagne-Ardenne's case-study stresses the engrained and widespread perception in the region that its prosperous past will return, leading to a certain degree of political and institutional inertia (Diemer et al. 2020, p. 88): the 2016 merger of Champagne-Ardenne with Lorraine and Alsace into a Grand Est region may lead considerable change in the coordination and governance of local strategic resources.

# 4 Regional development traps: Opportunities and challenges for development policy

#### 4.1 RDT as a diagnostic kit

The RDT analytical framework – reformulated on the European experience as a variety of development blockages – and the DT composite indicator provide an effective operational way to distinguish European territories' relative positions and trajectories with respect to being in/at risk of development traps.

The RDT toolkit conveys a summary performance information and allows the general assessment and ranking of a region relative to itself, others in the country and in the Union, thus also partiallying out shocks that affect a particular member state or the whole EU (e.g. changes in national policies, EU enlargements, global shocks such as the 2008 Great Recession, or the more recent Ukraine war). The DT index offers an intuitive dynamic operationalization of the RDT concept, providing a year-by-year tool to assess the degree

and evolution of the risk for a region of being/becoming trapped, undoubtedly more useful than static measures based on snapshots of regional performance over ex-ante defined periods.

For European regions and policy makers adopting the RDT as a diagnostic toolkit, the following advantages can be highlighted:

- At the EU level: RDT offers a clear and reliable framework for analysing comparative dynamic trends across EU regions, providing grounds for experimenting new policy schemes on selected trapped, or at high risk to be trapped, regions, thus concentrating efforts and increasing opportunities for sound policy evaluation.
- At the Member State level: RDT analysis is useful for national development policies to understand their regions within the national and European dynamic context across flexible time windows, and to identify new forms of support for less dynamic or stagnant regions, beyond their level of income. It should be reminded that a region that performs poorly within a country where the trap occurs on a national-scale is far less likely to be identified as trapped by construction of the DT measure, thus generally suggesting the appropriate geographical scope of the development problem.
- At the regional level: the RDT framework is valuable for local and regional governments to identify stagnant areas and industries, to align bottom-up and top- down initiatives, to think about new strategies to re-generate and re-vitalise economic opportunities for the residents of their territories.
- At all governance levels: RDT is very helpful to signal priorities in policy debates. It is a powerful practical tool for summarising and communicating to the public complex issues such as a regional likelihood of becoming economically trapped. The DT measure can facilitate public awareness and institutional change by questioning the prevailing dichotomy in regional development policy targets, at last including in the EU policy debate the large number of regions wedged between cores and peripheries.

Nonetheless, to guarantee its effectiveness as a dynamic indicator of regional trajectories, the DT measure needs to be sensibly utilized and interpreted. Caution is always needed to avoid composite indicators being mis-applied and mis-interpreted, thus conducing to misleading policy indications. The following warnings may be highlighted:

- The dynamic nature of the DT index makes it exposed to annual fluctuations. The averages of the measure for the cross-section of European regions over a selected period may hide more recent risks not necessarily reflected in those averages. As said, RDTs may manifest in ways other than through GDP per capita, depending for instance on local industrial structures and institutional features; intensity and dynamics of these effects may differ across period of times in a specific region.
- The sensitivity of the DT index to geographical scales needs consideration as it influences level and direction of regional policy choice: many trapped regions (DT>0.7 in Map 3.1) show remarkable intra-regional differences, with stark territorial polarisation of economic decline, while others in the same group are homogenous in their disappointing dynamics (see also Map 7.1 in the Appendix).
- The DT measure is responsive to the definition of regional income categories: the risk of being trapped is generally greatest for regions with GDP per capita falling between 75 and 100 percent of the EU average although, as indicated earlier, regions display significant variation in their development trajectories, becoming middle-income from above or below. It should be noted that it is extremely difficult to empirically disentangle the status of a region being trapped from simply being closer to a steady state condition. Documenting lower dynamism at high income levels is not necessarily evidence of being trapped, and the DT index tends to overestimate risk for more advanced regions.

# **4.2** The missing dimensions relevant for policy analysis: a focus on regional global connectivity

The association of the RDT concept and measure with main sets of socio-economic and institutional factors (i.e., economic structure; physical capital and infrastructure; demographics, human capital and labour force; innovation capacity; institutional quality) rests on sound theoretical considerations. On the same basis, Diemer et al. (2020, p. 38) identify an additional group of variables – economic geography, trade and internationalisation: however, persistent lack of data and comparable information at the subnational level makes it very difficult to capture the features and evolution of international integration for EU regions, and to explore the links with development trap risks, although important insights into such a relationship are gathered from both regional case-studies (Diemer et al. 2020, p. 61) and further recent research (e.g. Crescenzi, Pietrobelli and Rabellotti 2014; Crescenzi and Iammarino 2017; Comotti, Crescenzi and Iammarino, 2022; Casadei, Comotti, Crescenzi and Iammarino, 2023; Crescenzi and Harman, 2023).

EU regions have faced unceasing pressures to adjust in response to processes of globalisation of production and innovation and changing patterns of migration and trade. Their competitiveness and dynamism are fundamentally affected by factors such as international outsourcing and offshoring, attractiveness to FDI or foreign talent, degree of internationalisation of domestic firms and actors. Inflows, outflows and networks have been the foundations of the Single European Market in the early 1990s, and have gone through dramatic transformations continentally and globally since then: intra-EU interdependence in continental Global Value Chains (GVCs) has increased over time, with a subnational geography shaped by sectors and business functions/value chain stages (i.e. production, R&D and innovation, HQs, sales, logistic and distribution). The association between the DT indicator and international integration and global connectivity variables is of utmost importance in the analysis of the factors behind regional trajectories of stagnation and decline and the ways to address them.

Looking at one indicator of such connectivity – as proxied by the cumulative value (in million Euros) of inward (IFDI – left) and outward (OFDI – right) greenfield FDI to and from EU27 regions over the period  $2003-2017^3$  – the simple visualisation of the FDI subnational geography in Map 4.1 suggests an association with the DT1 index reported in Map 3.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Data comes from FT fDiMarkets; details are available from the author and in Comotti et al. (2020). NUTS2 are used for all countries for which data are available. NUTS1 are used for Belgium and Germany.



Map 4.1 Inward and Outward FDI: cumulative value (mil. Euros) of FDI to and from EU27 regions, 2003-2017

This is provisionally supported by the Pearson correlation coefficient – calculated separately for the 'old' and 'new' (CEECs) EU members' regions – highlighting a consistently negative and significant relationship between the DT1 indicator 2001-2018 and both IFDI and OFDI (2003- 17, average per capita values in US\$): remarkably, correlation coefficients almost double for central and eastern European regions. It is also interesting to note that, amongst the most trapped regions (DT1>0.7), only four regions, all highly urbanised, position themselves in the first quartiles of the inward and outward FDI distributions: Lisboa in Portugal, the Italian Lazio, which hosts the capital Rome, the region of Lyon in the French Rhône-Alpes, and the German city of Darmstadt. These cases indicate the need of a more systematic analysis of idiosyncratic regional evolution: indeed, previous research suggests that EU regions showing a balanced connectivity in terms of inward and outward FDI – and managing in a more effective way the integration between intra- and extra-region networks – are also more resilient to shocks both in terms of GDP and employment (Crescenzi and Iammarino, 2017).

Beyond these basic statistical associations, all in depth regional case-studies reported in Diemer et al. (2020) emphasized the strong influence of interregional and international participation in GVCs and the crucial role played by MNEs for local economic and technological dynamism. The two middle-income regional examples mentioned in section 3 above reveal that foreign MNEs were behind the strong growth phase of Abruzzo in the 1980s and early 1990s; both foreign- and nationally-owned MNEs dominate some of the domains of specialisation in current Abruzzo's smart specialization strategies (S3), such as Automotive/Mechatronics, Life Sciences and ICT/Space. Overall, however, both regional FDI

attractiveness and integration in GVCs remain relatively weak, becoming weaker in more recent years. On the other hand, Electrolux's subsequent relocations from Champagne-Ardenne to Poland (four production sites, in Żarów, Oława, Świdnica and Siewierzin) in the early 2000s and 2010s, have been behind the sharp decline of the medium-technology metal working sector in the region. At the same time, FDI inflows have been among the lowest across all French regions in the 2003-2018 period. Both regions display situations in which the possibility of benign externalities and spillover effects from both nationally- and foreign-owned MNEs has been severely curtailed.

Finally, the RDT conceptual and empirical dynamic nature may offer additional applications to take into account, more broadly, other types of interregional/international inflows and outflows, such as those of human capital and skills. For instance, as reported in Map 7.2 in the Appendix, a regional "talent development trap" has been used to define those regions experiencing rapid working age population decline in combination with low and stagnating tertiary education attainments, as well as regions at risk of falling into such a trap identified as undergoing significant outflows of young people (EC, 2023).

## 5 Conclusions and main policy implications

Many rural and old industrial regions, at different income levels and predominantly in Western Europe, have since the early 1990s endured long periods of entrapment or are at significant risk of entering development traps. Many trapped areas had not fully recovered from the Great Recession shock in the early 2010s, when additional shocks from global political-economy instability, COVID pandemic, Russia-Ukraine conflict, etc., hit them again. Many were already undergoing slow loss of population and human capital, and others suffered from absence of long-term vision on the basis of diffused perceptions inherited from a now-irrelevant past.

As said, this is not just an economic matter: remaining for long in a development trap is brewing the geography of discontent (Dijkstra et al. 2020; McCann 2020). Subpar economic performances, lack of employment opportunities, and loss of population and competitiveness are causing social and political resentment (Rodríguez-Pose 2018; McCann and Ortega-Argilés 2021). Thus, what can regions do to overcome or to avoid falling into a development trap? What can Cohesion Policy do further to support regions trapped or at risk of falling into a development trap? What additional policy mechanisms could be designed as to specifically target helping regions overcome the development trap?

The relevance of the RDT framework for decision-makers and planners at all levels of governance is summarised below, with the main goal of raising awareness of the regional development trap issue, and designing policies specifically targeted at helping regions overcome entrapment:

 Increasing the awareness of regional development traps. What regions can do to move in the direction of overcoming, or avoiding falling into a development trap is, first of all, to be conscious of such a condition/risk. To support regions trapped or at risk of becoming trapped, the first step for Cohesion Policy is to identify their relative trajectories over shorter and longer terms within the EU. The problems linked to economically trapped regions have mostly been neglected by decision-makers: considerable attention has been devoted to the least advanced regions, whilst national policies have mostly focused on reinforcing the winners, the largest and most economically dynamic urban agglomerations. Caught between these two policy strategies, trapped regions have so far struggled to attract interest, becoming the so- called 'places that don't matter' (Rodríguez-Pose, 2018). The challenge for policymakers – and particularly for Cohesion Policy – is to add them to their portfolio of concerns, striking a balance between sustaining the economic engine of booming urban agglomerations, while at the same time attending to regions in development traps or at risk of falling into them, in the many and varied circumstances in which these exist in Europe.

- Designing place-based policies for regional re-generation and re-vitalisation. Because regional development traps can arise in Europe at different levels of income, they demand attention not just ex post, but also in a forward-looking mode, aiming to prevent risks of entrapment. Additional and experimental policy mechanisms could be thought to specifically target such regions: the heterogeneity of stagnation trajectories calls for tailored place-based strategies aimed at revitalising and regenerating simultaneously economic and social fabrics. Extracting value from territorial capital, adopting conservation strategies of natural, cultural and artistic heritages, leveraging of technological shifts (i.e., green energy and digital transitions) to link new forms of tourism and certified and branded agricultural activities - as seen in both Abruzzo and Champagne-Ardenne casestudies – may be essential complements to strengthening regional S&T systems and FDI attraction for integrating resilient sectors in continental GVCs (see also Serger, Soete, and Stierna 2023). The intersection between regional economic and innovation structures, education and institutions is likely to be a critical policy triad. Safeguarding manufacturing jobs per se is likely neither an effective nor a sustainable approach, especially if it is in sectors that struggle to remain competitive internationally or are not inserted in interdependent GVCs. On the other hand, reconciling firms' cross-regional and transnational organisational networks with space-specific assets and institutional structures i.e., the 'strategic coupling' process driving regional economic development in the global economy (Yeung, 2021) - is a task that requires effective multi-level governance and strong coordination of top-down and bottom-up approaches. Thus, educational systems able to produce new skills and competences are needed not only as STEM fields and R&Dintensive activities are concerned, but also - and possibly predominantly in trapped regions - in upgrading both KIBS and public services quality, advancing coordination, planning and organisational capacity, and ultimately accelerating institutional change.
- Harnessing 'global connectivity' for regional development. The growing division of labour within GVC different segments of production processes tend to be associated with increasingly diverse shares of value added, skills and employment. The long-term processes of specialisation and diversification able to reconfigure regional competitive advantages over time adapting them to technological shifts, are shaped by the region participation in the global, and continental, division of labour (Crescenzi and Harman 2023). Re-vitalisation critically entails the establishment of intra- and extra-regional connections – through capital and labour flows – to provide new opportunities to the local residents. The relevance of the nexus sector-function-region in GVCs shows that understanding the detailed structure and evolution of GVC and FDI networks, and identifying the potential for integration of cities and regions, must become a central reflection of future public policies. A holistic policy approach to regional economic development with respect to global connectivity is still missing. Governance and policy design for European value chains need necessarily coordination at the EU level: GVCs and networks are international, within and outside the EU, and interregional within Europe and its members, and only a systematic and comprehensive observation of such interdepended networks can grasp their territorial implications. Other mega- trends crucially intersect with European GVCs: both green energy and digital transitions - as general-purpose technologies of the future – will open windows of opportunities for territorial re-generation.

Regional economic development strategies need to address the 'global connectivity issue' as it can act as a new form of peripherality, persistently curbing the development prospects of a growing number of EU regions.

#### 6 References

Abramovitz, Moses. 1986. "Catching Up, Forging Ahead, and Falling Behind." The Journal of Economic History 46 (02): 385–406. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022050700046209.

Aghion, Philippe, and Cagatay Bircan. 2017. "The Middle-Income Trap from a Schumpeterian Perspective." 205. EBRD Working Paper No. 205. EBRD Working Paper. London, UK. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3119146.

Audretsch, David B., and Maryann P. Feldman. 1996. "R&D spillovers and the geography of innovation and production." The American economic review, 86(3), 630-640.

Casadei, Patrizia, Sebastiano Comotti, Riccardo Crescenzi, and Simona Iammarino. 2023. "Where Global Value Chains go local: EU regions, global value chain creation and local upgrading." European Commission, DG Regio, forthcoming.

Comotti, Sebastiano, Riccardo Crescenzi, and Simona Iammarino. 2020. "Foreign direct investment, global value chains and regional economic development in Europe." European Commission, DG Regio, http://bit.ly/2EBX4Yy

Crescenzi, Riccardo, and Oliver Harman. 2023. Harnessing Global Value Chains for regional development: How to upgrade through regional policy, FDI and trade. Taylor & Francis.

Crescenzi, Riccardo, and Simona Iammarino. 2017. "Global Investments and Regional Development Trajectories: The Missing Links." Regional Studies 51 (1): 97–115. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2016.1262016.

Crescenzi, Riccardo, Carlo Pietrobelli, and Roberta Rabellotti. 2014. "Innovation drivers, value chains and the geography of multinational corporations in Europe." Journal of Economic Geography, 14(6): 1053-1086.

Dijkstra, Lewis, Hugo Poelman, and Andrés Rodríguez-Pose. 2020. "The Geography of EUDiscontent."RegionalStudies54(6):737–53.https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2019.1654603.

Dunford, Mick, and Adrian Smith. 2009. "Catching Up or Falling Behind? Economic Performance and Regional Trajectories in the 'New Europe'\*." Economic Geography 76 (2): 169–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1944-8287.2000.tb00139.x.

European Commission. 2022. Cohesion in Europe towards 2050: Eighth Report on Economic,Social and Territorial Cohesion. Edited by Lewis Dijkstra. European Commission, DirectorateGeneralforRegionalandUrbanPolicy.https://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/en/information/cohesion- report/ .

Fagerberg, Jan. 1994. "Technology and International Differences in Growth Rates." Journal of Economic Literature 32 (3): 1147–75. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2728605.

Fagerberg, Jan, and Manuel Mira Godinho. 2006. "Innovation and Catching-Up." In Handbook of Innovation, edited by Jan Fagerberg and David C. Mowery. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199286805.003.0019.

Fagerberg, Jan, and Bart Verspagen. 1996. "Heading for Divergence? Regional Growth in Europe Reconsidered." JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies 34 (3): 431–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.1996.tb00580.x.

Iammarino, Simona, and Philip McCann. 2013. Multinationals and Economic Geography: Location, Technology and Innovation. Edward Elgar Publishing.

Iammarino, Simona, Andrés Rodríguez-Pose, and Michael Storper. 2019. "Regional Inequality in Europe: Evidence, Theory and Policy Implications." Journal of Economic Geography 19 (2): 273–98. https://doi.org/10.1093/JEG/LBY021.

Lee, Keun, and Franco Malerba. 2017. "Catch-up Cycles and Changes in Industrial Leadership:Windows of Opportunity and Responses of Firms and Countries in the Evolution of Sectoral Systems." Research Policy 46 (2): 338–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESPOL.2016.09.006.

Martin, Ron, and Peter Sunley. 1998. "Slow Convergence? The New Endogenous Growth Theory and Regional Development." Economic Geography 74 (3): 201–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1944- 8287.1998.tb00113.x.

McCann, Philip. 2020. "Perceptions of Regional Inequality and the Geography of Discontent: Insights from the UK." Regional Studies 54 (2): 256–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2019.1619928.

McCann, Philip, and Raquel Ortega-Argilés. 2021. "The UK 'Geography of Discontent': Narratives, Brexit and Inter-Regional 'Levelling Up.'" Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society 14 (3): 545–64. https://doi.org/10.1093/CJRES/RSAB017.

Quah, Danny T. 1996. "Regional Convergence Clusters across Europe." European Economic Review 40 (3): 951–58. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2921(95)00105-0.

Quah, Danny T. 1997. "Empirics for Growth and Distribution: Stratification, Polarization, and Convergence Clubs." Journal of Economic Growth 2 (1): 27–59. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009781613339.

Rodríguez-Pose, Andrés. 2018. "The Revenge of the Places That Don't Matter (and What to Do about It)." Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society 11 (1): 189–209. https://doi.org/10.1093/cjres/rsx024.

Rodríguez-Pose, Andrés, and Tobias Ketterer. 2020. "Institutional Change and the Development of Lagging Regions in Europe." Regional Studies 54 (7): 974–86. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2019.1608356.

Sassi, Maria. 2011. "Convergence Across the EU Regions: Economic Composition and Structural Transformation." International Advances in Economic Research 17 (1): 101–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11294-010-9286-8. Serger, Sylvia Schwaag, Luc Soete, and Johan Stierna. 2023. "The Square: Putting placebased innovation policy for sustainability at the centre of policymaking." Publications Office of the European Union, https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2760/135706

Storper, Michael. 2018. "Separate Worlds? Explaining the Current Wave of Regional Economic Polarization." Journal of Economic Geography 18 (2): 247–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lby011.

Vivarelli, Marco. 2016. "The Middle Income Trap: A Way out Based on Technological and Structural Change." Economic Change and Restructuring 49 (2–3): 159–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10644-015-9166-6.

Yeung, Henry W. C. 2021. "Regional worlds: from related variety in regional diversification to strategic coupling in global production networks." Regional Studies, 55(6): 989-1010.

## 7 Appendix



Development trap index 1 at NUTS-3 level, 2001-2018



Map 7.1 Likelihood of being in a development trap: DT1 at NUTS3 level, 2001-2018

Source: Dijkstra and Rodriguez-Pose (2023)



Map 7.2 Regions in (or at risk of) a talent development trap: NUTS2 level, 2015-2020

Source: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/regional\_policy/information-</u> sources/publications/communications/2023/harnessing-talent-in-europe-s-regions\_en